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John Leach, Common Interest Community Subcommittee, Real Property Law 

Section, State Bar of Nevada 
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CHAIR SEGERBLOM: 
I will open the hearing. I ask for motions to introduce Bill Draft Request (BDR) 
14-1004 and BDR 14-150.  
 
BILL DRAFT REQUEST 14-1004: Revises provisions relating to public safety. 

(Later introduced as Senate Bill 277.) 
 
BILL DRAFT REQUEST 14-150: Makes changes relating to programs for the 

treatment of veterans and members of the military. (Later introduced as 
Senate Bill 280.) 

 
 SENATOR FORD MOVED TO INTRODUCE BDR 14-1004. 
 
 SENATOR HARRIS SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 
 
 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5238/Overview/
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5241/Overview/
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 THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 

* * * * * 
 
 SENATOR FORD MOVED TO INTRODUCE BDR 14-150. 
 
 SENATOR GUSTAVSON SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 
 THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 

* * * * * 
 

CHAIR SEGERBLOM: 
I will open the hearing on Senate Bill (S.B.) 239. 
 
SENATE BILL 239: Revises provisions relating to common-interest communities. 

(BDR 10-471) 
 
SENATOR BECKY HARRIS (Senatorial District No. 9): 
Senate Bill 239 permits homeowners’ associations (HOA) to enter a unit and 
abate water or sewage damage when the property is in a shared living 
environment. For example, if a pipe bursts in a vacant, abandoned or foreclosed 
condominium and emergency repairs need to be made, S.B. 239 gives the HOA 
the ability to enter and make repairs so that other property owners are not 
unduly impacted by a delayed repair. There is a need to abate a water or 
sewage leak and remediate damage resulting from a leak and mold in a 
multifamily housing. If an HOA manager puts a lender on notice and gets no 
response, S.B. 239 would allow the HOA to enter, make the repair and be 
reimbursed for the repair. 
 
CHAIR SEGERBLOM: 
Does the HOA sue the bank? 
 
SENATOR HARRIS: 
I do not know if there is a right of action to sue the bank.  
 
 
 
 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5153/Overview/
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ERIC THEROS (Nevada Association of Community Managers): 
As community managers, we are tasked with looking out for every homeowner 
within an HOA. We also strive to ensure that our HOAs are managed efficiently 
and fairly. Senate Bill 239 is an important and fair piece of legislation. 
 
Senate Bill 239 would give multifamily HOAs, such as condominiums and 
townhomes, the ability to enter a vacant unit to repair water or sewage leaks 
affecting neighboring units and recover monies spent.  
 
If a pipe bursts inside a unit that is abandoned or in foreclosure, only the HOA 
has the authority derived from the governing documents to enter the unit. These 
emergency provisions are common language found in all governing documents. 
Anyone else attempting to enter the unit, even the bank holding the mortgage if 
the bank has not yet taken ownership, would be considered trespassing. 
 
A burst pipe left unattended will not only continue to damage surrounding units 
but can cause life-threatening mold to grow inside and cause structural damage. 
The repair would be a quick, simple two-part process. The first step is to find 
and fix the leak.  
 
The second step is to remove any wet material to prevent further damage and 
possible mold growth. The materials would not be replaced, only removed. This 
keeps costs and the assessments to a bare minimum. The goal is not to special 
assess a large bill but to make the building safe for all. Associations are the only 
entities that can legally enter vacant units to make these repairs.  
 
The goal of this legislation is to ensure that the HOA can recover the costs of 
the repairs from the responsible owner. Associations cannot afford to pay for 
emergency repairs if they are not guaranteed repayment. Not being able to 
recover this money places a burden on the assessment-paying homeowners. We 
are not looking for a blank check but rather a simple guarantee by way of a lien 
for eventual payment. 
 
GARRETT GORDON (Community Association Institute; Southern Highlands 

Homeowners Association): 
We support S.B. 239. 
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KELLY CROMPTON (City of Las Vegas): 
We support S.B. 239. This bill would alleviate some of the code enforcement 
issues for which complaints are filed with the City of Las Vegas, Division of 
Code Enforcement. 
 
JOHN LEACH (Common Interest Community Subcommittee, Real Property Law 

Section, State Bar of Nevada): 
We support S.B. 239. We have proposed an amendment (Exhibit C). 
Senate Bill 239 benefits the homeowner, the lender and the HOA by allowing 
the HOA to mitigate damages by preventing water and sewer leaks from going 
from a modest expense to a $100,000 repair. Protecting the value of the 
property benefits lenders because lenders look to the collateral for repayment of 
their loans.  
 
MARK LEON (Mountain's Edge Master Association): 
We support S.B. 239.  
 
JONATHAN FRIEDRICH (Nevada Homeowner Alliance): 
I have a couple of problems with this bill. Senate Bill 239 does not differentiate 
between common elements, which are the responsibility of the association, and 
elements on the owner’s side of the sheet rock, which are the homeowner’s 
responsibility.  
 
There is also the problem of people entering the unit. If there are items of value 
in the unit, who is to say that items have not been stolen. This same bill, 
A.B. No. 254 of the 78th Session, was introduced by Assemblywoman Ellen B. 
Spiegel in 2015. There was a whole host of objections to it.  
 
CHAIR SEGERBLOM: 
If a pipe in the wall breaks, who is supposed to fix it? 
 
MR. FRIEDRICH: 
If it is a common element, it is the association's responsibility. Normally the 
way the covenants, conditions and restrictions (CC&Rs) are written, everything 
on the paint side of the sheetrock is the unit owner's responsibility. Everything 
in the walls is the property of the association. 
 
CHAIR SEGERBLOM: 
Does this bill state that the association can enter and fix the pipe? 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/JUD/SJUD496C.pdf
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MR. FRIEDRICH: 
Senate Bill 239 addresses who will pay the cost of the repairs. 
 
CHAIR SEGERBLOM: 
They can fight that out. We want somebody to enter and fix the pipe before it 
destroys the whole unit. 
 
MR. FRIEDRICH: 
The bill should clearly state that if the line is in the wall, responsibility to fix the 
pipe and pay for the repair belongs to the association. 
 
CHAIR SEGERBLOM: 
Is that the law? 
 
MR. FRIEDRICH: 
No. It is normally spelled out in the CC&Rs. 
 
CHAIR SEGERBLOM: 
I understand. It is not the law.  
 
TIM STEBBINS (Nevada Homeowner Alliance): 
We are opposed to all sections of S.B. 239 that would allow the association, 
manager or their agents to enter a private residence uninvited. We certainly 
recognize the right and responsibility of the association to promptly address any 
issues involving water leaks that may cause damage to common elements or 
any other unit. This can be done by turning off the water to that particular unit. 
It does not require entry into the residence.  
 
We are opposed to a blank check for the cost of remedial action and repairs. 
Testimony in this hearing has indicated that repairs would be limited to 
removing wet materials. The bill simply addresses remediation and repairs. To 
have a homeowner obligated to pay whatever the bill might be is not fair.  
 
We recognize the right and responsibility of the association to take remedial 
action to repair damage to common elements caused by water leakage. A lien 
can be placed on the property and the costs recovered in the future. 
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We also recognize the right of owners whose units have been damaged by the 
water or sewage leaks to take remedial action. A lien can be placed on the 
property and the costs recovered in the future. 
 
CHAIR SEGERBLOM: 
I will close the hearing on S.B. 239 and open the hearing on S.B. 228. 
 
SENATE BILL 228: Revises provisions relating to registry identification cards and 

letters of approval. (BDR 40-576) 
 
SENATOR PAT SPEARMAN (Senatorial District No. 1): 
Across the Country, the opioid crisis has reached epidemic proportions and 
Nevada is no different. In 2015, our State saw more than 7,000 opioid-related 
emergency room visits and more than 8,200 opioid-related in-patient 
admissions. That same year, more than 465 Nevada residents died from 
opioid-related overdoses—more than 1 person every day.  
 
States are increasingly taking steps to address this epidemic. Governor 
Brian Sandoval established the Drug Abuse Prevention Task Force in 2014. In 
2016, Governor Sandoval convened a 2-day summit to solicit recommendations 
on how to best address prescription opioid abuse and related challenges.  
 
In recent Sessions, the Legislature has considered and enacted bills to address 
this issue. Senate Bill 228 is another step in the right direction. It increases 
access to medical marijuana for individuals who are diagnosed with opioid 
addiction and authorizes certain health care providers who treat people with 
opioid addiction to sign the forms necessary for individuals to apply for a 
registry identification card. Specifically, S.B. 228 includes opioid addiction in the 
list of the conditions that qualify as a "chronic or debilitating medical condition" 
for which a registry identification card or letter of approval may be issued. 
 
The bill replaces “attending physician” with “attending provider of health care.” 
This change authorizes advanced practice registered nurses, psychologists, 
clinical professional counselors, clinical social workers, and alcohol and drug 
abuse counselors, who are responsible for the care and treatment of a person 
diagnosed with opioid addiction, to provide the written documentation required 
to obtain the registry identification card. 
 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5119/Overview/
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Senate Bill 228 makes conforming changes to the statutes of the appropriate 
licensing boards that provide oversight of health care providers who advise their 
patients on the medical use of marijuana. The bill clarifies that providers on the 
expanded list are not subject to disciplinary action solely for engaging in any 
activity related to the medical use of marijuana. 
 
Senate Bill 228 provides another much-needed option for treatment of opioid 
addiction in Nevada. According to Dr. Yasmin Hurd, Director of the Center for 
Addictive Disorders in the Icahan School of Medicine at Mount Sinai Behavioral 
Health System in New York: 
 

It is very important to move with a deep sense of urgency to 
leverage the opportunity presented by increased legalization of 
medical marijuana to expedite the development of canavoid for 
therapeutic interventions for opioid use disorders. 
 

I have talked with several veterans during the last six or seven months regarding 
their addiction to painkillers. One gentleman said during a panel discussion for 
veterans addicted to opioids that he had been on 39 different medications a 
day. He was in a Humvee that ran over an improvised explosive device. He 
sustained head, neck and back injuries. He said everything on his body hurt. He  
took pain medication to ease the pain. At some point, he realized that the pain 
medication was making him feel like a zombie. He thought that he could get off 
the medications and that it was no big deal. He tried several times, and it was a 
constant struggle. He considered suicide because he did not like the way he 
felt, but he could not kick the habit. He was prescribed medical marijuana, and 
he is drug-free today.  
 
Senate Bill 228 offers an opportunity for people who, through no fault of their 
own, have become addicted to opioids. Medical marijuana is a safe, natural way 
to reduce that addiction rate. Senate Bill 228 gives people who treat to those 
addicted to opioids another treatment option. 
 
CHAIR SEGERBLOM: 
National Football League players are fed opioids before they play. They destroy 
their bodies. If these players use marijuana to alleviate pain, they are drug 
tested and prohibited from playing. Educating the public on alternatives to 
opioids is fantastic.  
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SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
Nevada is leading the Country in several different areas this Session. The federal 
government has only recently permitted marijuana research to determine 
whether it is beneficial.  
 
One of the things that has held us back is the lack of information available to 
doctors and other medical providers. There is a stigma about what marijuana is 
and what it does. People tend to lump all marijuana into the same category and 
disregard the medical marijuana strains that are not addictive and are a more 
healthy way to deal with pain and posttraumatic stress. 
 
NICK M. SPIRTOS, M.D.: 
I am the president of Apothecary Shoppe and the president of the Women’s 
Cancer Center of Nevada in Las Vegas. In these capacities, I deal with patients 
with chronic opioid use. I support S.B. 228. Opioid addiction is an important 
issue nationwide. Dr. Sean Dempsey and I have started a study with 50 patients 
to accrue. We have 12 patients in the study. Ten have cut their opioid use pill 
count by over 50 percent. One feels better but has not reduced her opioid use. 
One failed. To have 10 out of 12 patients reduce opioid use by 50 percent by 
substituting a combination tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) cannadidiol (CBD) elixir is 
of paramount importance.  
 
SENATOR FORD: 
Senate Bill 228 adds opioid addiction to the definition of chronic or debilitating 
medical condition. Is that correct? 
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
That is correct.  
 
SENATOR FORD: 
Is opioid addiction considered in the medical literature or by the medical 
community a chronic or debilitating medical condition, or are we defining it as 
such notwithstanding that this may not be the generally accepted definition? 
 
SCOTT M. MARTIN, M.D.: 
Opioid abuse disorder certification was added to the Devereux Scales of Mental 
Disorders opioid criteria recently. Opioid dependence used to be broken into 
dependence and opioid abuse. There is now an International Statistical 
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Classification of Disease (ICD-10-CM) code for opioid dependence 
uncomplicated and opioid abuse disorder.  
 
SENATOR FORD: 
I am not familiar with medical parlance. Can you explain this in layman’s terms? 
Is opioid addiction considered a chronic or debilitating medical condition? 
 
DR. MARTIN:  
I am an international pain provider. I trained at the University of Michigan with 
the Veterans Administration in Ann Arbor on a fellowship in 2015. I have been a 
pain doctor for 13 years. When we see a patient with chronic opioid 
dependence or abuse and chart medical records, the approved codes based on 
Medicare Guidelines include chronic opioid dependence and opioid abuse 
disorders. Those are existing reimbursable codes based on Medicare Guidelines. 
Medicare Guidelines determine how all medical practices operate.  
 
DR. SPIRTOS: 
Opioid addiction is a distinct entity in common practice. It is characterized as a 
distinct entity in medicine.  
 
SENATOR FORD: 
Have other states defined opioid addiction to be within the definition of chronic 
or debilitating medical condition? 
 
DR. MARTIN: 
Yes. All of them have by virtue of ICD-10-CM test codes. These are the codes 
used for treatment and reimbursement for treatment of patients with both 
Medicare and Medicaid insurances. These are the reimbursement codes at the 
state and federal level.  
 
SENATOR FORD: 
If S.B. 228 is adopted, will Nevada be outside of the mainstream relative to 
adding opioid addiction to the definition of chronic or debilitating medical 
condition? 
 
DR. MARTIN: 
When opioid dependent or opioid addicted patients come to our practice or any 
other facility for treatment for opioid-related chronic disease states, the 
standard of care is to put them on one of two drugs, methadone or 



Senate Committee on Judiciary 
March 15, 2017 
Page 11 
 
buprenorphine. In layman’s terms that is like giving whiskey to a vodka addict. 
We are treating opioid addiction with opioids. Methadone accounts in national 
studies for somewhere between 50 and 60 percent of all opioid-related 
overdoses. 
 
Would Nevada be in line with the rest of the Country if it adopts S.B. 228? No. 
Nevada would be a thought leader in this regard. Nevada would be leading the 
charge much the way Washington State did in 2015 when it published 
guidelines for the responsible treatment of prescribing opioids, which were 
subsequently adopted by the CDC. I cannot think of a more appropriate use of a 
legislative bill than to save the lives of a mother, father, sister, brother, 
daughter, son or child. 
 
The statistics are factual. Nationally, we lost approximately 15,500 patients 
directly to overdose of narcotics last year. That does not include those who died 
from combinations of opioids and sleeping pills, opioids and alcohol, opioids and 
heroin, etc. 
 
There are good alternatives to narcotics. We do not need to make patients high. 
We can give them nearly pure tinctures in capsules of CBD, a subunit of the 
marijuana plant that does not make people high. This is unbelievably important. 
Over the last 10 years in the United States, we have lost close to 
125,000 patients to overdose-related deaths. In the last ten years, I am not 
aware of a single patient overdosing and dying from marijuana.  
 
DR. SPIRTOS: 
Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS) killed 6,700 people last year in 
this Country. We spend billions of dollars on AIDS research. Twice as many 
people died of opioid overdose in this Country last year.  
 
SENATOR FORD: 
I am not debating the epidemic of opioid abuse. That is not the question. I am 
trying to ensure that we are addressing it with something that the medical 
community has said addresses the problem. Does scientific literature or the 
scientific community believe that marijuana is effective at helping opioid abuse? 
 
DR. SPIRTOS: 
We have started a study that includes pill counts to document medical 
marijuana’s effectiveness. There are a number of papers. There are anecdotes 
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that are retrospective in nature that have shown effectiveness. Are there large 
prospective studies being done? No. We started feasibility studies last year in 
Nevada. That is being a thought leader, not a follower. 
 
SENATOR FORD: 
Does literature say the opposite? Is there anything that says that marijuana is 
ineffective for treating opioid abuse or opioid addiction? 
 
DR. MARTIN: 
No.  
 
SENATOR FORD: 
Senate Bill 228 would also allow advanced practice registered nurses, clinical 
psychologists, clinical professional counselors, clinical social workers, alcohol 
and drug abuse counselors, and clinical drug and alcohol counselors to provide 
whatever documentation is necessary to get a registry identification card. Is 
that correct? 
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
Yes. The reason is that many times those professionals are the ones that 
actually see the people who are addicted to opioids. The presenting problem 
may be family issues. That is why the person goes to counseling, but in the 
midst of counseling, it is learned that part of the problem is a direct result of 
substance abuse. The veteran I spoke about earlier was very antagonistic to his 
family and friends. Initially, he did not know why. He tried to get off opioids—
on and off, on and off, on and off. He noticed that he was becoming more and 
more belligerent and violent. The list of professionals in the bill will not actually 
prescribe treatment, but they will have the opportunity to contribute to 
whatever information is necessary for the doctor to be able to say a person is a 
good candidate.  
 
SENATOR FORD: 
To get medical marijuana, a doctor has to give authorization. Does S.B. 228 
give nondoctors the ability to provide the documentation necessary to acquire 
medical marijuana? 
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
No. The professionals who see people struggling with addiction are many times 
not medical doctors. Many times, it is a substance abuse counselor. It may be a 
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clinical social worker. It may be a nurse practitioner. The professionals listed in 
the bill can advise the doctor of their observations regarding opioid addiction. 
These professional cannot diagnose, but they can provide that information.  
 
SENATOR FORD: 
I am not sure I read the bill the same way you do. I think it says exactly the 
opposite. If I am right, I would like you to entertain an amendment that would 
allow these professionals to provide documentation to a doctor who could use 
that information to inform his or her judgment.  
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
Yes. That makes sense.  
 
VICE CHAIR CANNIZZARO: 
I agree with Senator Ford. 
 
SENATOR GUSTAVSON: 
We are trying to get people off drugs. Is not marijuana a drug?  
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
Marijuana has been classified as a drug, but there are parts of the marijuana 
plant that have medicinal purposes. One of the opioid addiction treatment 
options is methadone, which is an addictive substance. Marijuana is not 
addictive. We are talking about providing options that do not complicate or 
compound the issues that the addict is trying to solve. Marijuana has historically 
been classified as a drug, but as more research is done, we are realizing and 
understanding that it does have medicinal purposes. That is why we passed the 
medical marijuana law in the 77th Session.  
 
SenaTOR GUSTAVSON: 
Are you familiar with Vivitrol? It is a substance they give to drug addicts when 
they have been off drugs. It has been used quite a bit recently in several 
different states. It takes away the desire to get high. Why is this not 
recommended as well? 
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
I have heard of it, and perhaps if I had more information about it, I would have 
included it in S.B. 228. I am familiar with the research. I understand that it has 
been used in two or three states. If it works, its use may expand. We are 
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putting more tools in the toolbox because more than 400 people died in a year. 
More than one person is dying each day. This is a hair-on-fire moment. We need 
to be responsible and make sure whatever is medically effective is available to 
people who are trying to help addicts. The bill does not debate the veracity or 
the efficacy of other options. Senate Bill 228 simply says that marijuana is a 
viable option based on existing medical research.  
 
DR. MARTIN: 
Vivitrol is a great drug. The problem is recidivism. The problem is relapse on to 
narcotics. Of the patients who have gone through detox, over 50 percent 
relapse back on to narcotics. The medical community does not like to move too 
fast. We like to move with the literature. We like to push the elements of the 
literature but in a responsible way. We need to have the thought leaders from 
the medicinal marijuana community sit down with the thought leaders from the 
University of Nevada, Reno; the University of Nevada, Las Vegas; the University 
Medical Center; and doctors in the community to perform a large-scale clinical 
trial, possibly State-sponsored, for the patients of our community who need it 
the most, our Medicaid patients. These patients are suffering with all sorts of 
disease states and are left out of this equation. This is an opportunity of 
stewardship and leadership wherein we can break the divide between the 
medical community and the marijuana community and join hands across the 
political aisle. We need a stepwise legislation process in which we allocate 
funds to a large-scale clinical trial and allocate funds to providing alternatives if 
they exist. Let us see where the literature takes us. Let us see where the 
community takes us. 
 
We know that in states that have adopted medical marijuana laws, narcotic 
overdose rates have dropped 25 percent. We know pill counts have dropped 
over 20 percent. That literature exists. A state-sponsored randomized 
double-blind placebo-controlled trial has never been done. We have the 
opportunity of a stepwise, cautionary, educated, all-hands-on-deck approach to 
save lives. This should be acceptable to everyone.  
 
VU LUU, M.D.: 
I am a board-certified anesthesiologist practicing in Las Vegas since 2008. I 
support S.B. 228. It is prudent to expand the categories of chronic illness to 
include addiction, to investigate and provide additional information and to be 
thought leaders for the rest of the Country. Research was a big component of 
the original medical marijuana bill, S.B. No. 374 of the 77th Session. 
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Yesterday, I saw a patient having routine hip replacement surgery. This former 
member of the military was on many narcotics for pain and many antianxiety 
medicines for Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD). The surgery was 
uneventful. Upon waking up from anesthesia in recovery, the patient was 
combative. We exhausted all of our medical options. He was given ketamine 
and Haldol. He was given an infusion of Precidex to keep him calm overnight. 
As Senator Spearman said, we need additional tools in our armament. If we do 
this in the context of research, we will advance our knowledge and allow folks 
like Dr. Spirtos, who are already conducting studies, to publish studies in 
medical journals.  
 
ANDREA SMALL-HOWARD, PH.D. (GrowBlox Sciences, Inc.): 
I am the Chief Science Officer for GrowBlox Sciences, Inc. GrowBlox is a 
vertically-integrated cannabis company located in Las Vegas. We are dedicated 
to both research and providing standardized medications for patients. We 
support S.B. 228. This bill would put Nevada on the leading edge of providing 
safe access for patients. 
 
The media has dubbed opioid abuse as an epidemic. I started doing cannabis 
research at the University of Southern California in 2000. I have studied the 
endocannabinoid system extensively and cannabinoid receptors. I want to 
address the mechanisms of how opioids work and how cannabis is a safer 
alternative. Opioids tend to lead to overdoses, which are not common in 
cannabinoids. From the scientific standpoint, opioids cause tolerance. This 
means that treating chronic pain with opioids requires upping doses to relieve 
pain. 
 
There are scientific studies that show the mechanisms by which cannabinoids 
receptors interact with opioid receptors in a way that breaks the cycle of the 
addiction. It breaks the reward cycle. Cannadidiol is one of the active 
ingredients in cannabis, but it does not have hallucinogenic properties. 
Dr. Dustin Sulak, a colleague in Maine, and some of his colleagues have 
683 people in a study providing low dose opioids and low dose cannabinoids. 
The study is showing that people have consistent relief at low doses of these 
medications, and they are not developing the tolerance that tends to push 
people to the levels of opioid use that cause overdoses. It is responsible for 
Nevada to give people with opioid dependencies an alternative that will allow 
them to reduce doses of opioids and have a safe alternative for pain 
management. 
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COLE AZARE (Mainstream Marijuana Association): 
I am the Director of Veterans Affairs for Mainstream Marijuana Association, and 
in that capacity, I know the veteran about whom Senator Spearman was 
speaking. Marijuana saved his life. Many of my friends are veterans who do not 
have the option of medical marijuana in their states. They have taken it upon 
themselves to find marijuana and get off opioids. The United States Department 
of Veterans Affairs (VA) doctors cannot legally discuss marijuana with their 
patients even if it is legal in their state.  
 
Senate Bill 228 would help veterans. The “22 a day” statistic is true, and a 
significant portion of that “22 a day” is coming from opioid addiction. The 
Partnership for a Drug-Free America published an article that says that veterans 
with PTSD are more than twice as likely to receive opioids compared to 
veterans without mental health problems. These patients are at greater risk of 
overdose and suicide. Without finding other ways to get them off legal heroin, 
our veterans are killing themselves.  
 
SEAN DEMPSEY, M.D.: 
I am a board-certified anesthesiologist. I am also an owner of medical marijuana 
facilities in Las Vegas. I support S.B. 228. The numbers from the CDC show 
that 619 people died from overdose in Nevada in 2015. Dr. Kennon Heard has 
done research in animal models that show marijuana is beneficial for the 
treatment of narcotics. Is this research the best we can do? No. We want to do 
more. Dr. Spirtos is doing research and many others are too. We need to have a 
way to do research in a legal manner. 
 
I think anyone who can prescribe medicine should be able to sign the 
recommendations for marijuana. People purchase marijuana on the black market 
and the recreational market. It is better to track and follow these people from 
the medical perspective as opposed to them trying it out on their own.  
 
SENATOR FORD: 
Do you advocate expanding the list of those who can prescribe medical 
marijuana? 
 
DR. DEMPSEY: 
Narcotic abuse is a chronic medical condition. As an example, the Affordable 
Care Act covers treatment and mandates treatment for people with chronic 
addiction. The replacement health care proposal seems to remove that. As far 
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as expanding prescribers, I am not an expert on interpreting this legislation, 
especially with respect to all chapters of the NRS that are referenced in 
S.B. 228. I definitely think that all people who can prescribe medicine should be 
allowed to prescribe marijuana.  
 
SENATOR FORD: 
I presumed that only medical doctors could prescribe or, in this case, 
recommend a prescription for marijuana. What other professionals are 
authorized to prescribe medicines? If that list is finite enough, it could be 
plopped into this statute and be consistent with current medical practice. If 
medical marijuana is a medicine, then only those who can prescribe medicine 
should be able to prescribe it. That is my view. I have asked for consideration of 
an amendment that would specify that only medical doctors or those that are 
otherwise authorized to prescribe medicine be authorized to sign the 
recommendation form for the registry identification card.  
 
MARITZA BERMUDEZ: 
I am here to speak about my experience in treating my opioid addiction with 
cannabis. I am a medical marijuana patient. I am also a patient advocate. 
Cannabis can and does change our bodies and provide relief. I have had lupus 
for 25 years and have struggled with numerous medications including opioids. I 
have destroyed organs in my body. I have an autoimmune illness that constantly 
attacks me and causes pain and inflammation. It is important that more people 
have access to cannabis. I was able to get a card because I have a condition 
that qualifies for treatment. Addicts who do not have a qualifying illness are 
losing out on the benefits of cannabis.  
 
Since incorporating cannabis into my life, I have gotten off four different 
medications. I feel ten times better than I have ever felt in my life. Doctors 
consistently give pain medications without explaining the long-term risks. I have 
been ill since I was a child. I have struggled to control my pain. I know cannabis 
has done an amazing job for me and has ensured that I do not fall into addiction 
again. I am a productive citizen and a small business owner in Las Vegas. I am 
thankful to Nevada for being thought leaders and understanding that we need to 
expand access. It does work.  
 
DR. MARTIN: 
Recreational marijuana will be legal in June or July, and you will be able to walk 
down the Strip, go to a vending machine and get marijuana. Nurse practitioners 
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and physician extenders, nurses working as an extension of a physician in a 
multidisciplinary recovery center or addiction treatment facility under doctor’s 
supervision, should be able to make recommendations and offer sound medical 
guidance.  
 
In the medical community, we have a profound lack of communication because 
we have disparate levels of care between everyone from primary doctors to 
specialists. Physician extenders are sufficiently supervised by physicians to 
make recommendations in an educated manner and would be of tremendous 
service to our community  
 
BOONE CUTLER: 
I am a combat veteran and a talk show host at 99.1 FM. My show is called 
Tipping Point Boone Cutler and offers the warfighter perspective. Everything 
that we are talking about today I hear on my show. I get this. The VA does 
prescribe many opioids, but I do not think it means to hurt anybody. Guys came 
back with chronic pain and the VA had to do something. Guys were screaming 
at the VA to do something. That was my case as well. 
 
America got on a big opioid kick and people became addicted. Now we have an 
opioid epidemic. The VA started cutting back on opioids. Veterans still have 
chronic pain issues. What do they do? They look for street drugs. Heroin sales 
are through the roof. Veterans should have an alternative. 
 
I was hooked on opioids for many years. I was injured in Iraq in a mortar 
explosion. It left me with chronic pain and Parkinson’s disease. I know what I 
am talking about. This is a huge issue, and Nevada has the opportunity to lead 
for once instead of just doing what California does. That is a big deal. We need 
to take responsibility. 
 
I was on methadone. Methadone is the only thing I have ever taken that, if I 
missed a dose, ten minutes later I was geeking. I wanted off methadone real 
bad, real quick. It was all bad. This happened when I was at Walter Reed 
National Military Medical Center.  
 
We are asking you to pass a law that will give us the ability replace a toxic 
substance with a nontoxic substance. Cannabis is nontoxic to humans. You 
cannot overdose on it. That is a medical fact. You can overdose on opioids. I 
have done it. I know many people who have done it. It is not hard to do. 
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The way I dealt with my opioid tolerance was to lock myself in a room twice a 
year. I would have NyQuil, Imodium A-D and Dramamine. I would detox myself 
because my opioid level got so high. I would detox for about a week and a half. 
It is painful. I would reduce my tolerance and then start opioids again. Each time 
I said I would not let my usage increase. Every time it increased. This cycle 
went on for years. Then I found marijuana. 
 
Cannabis and CBD not only took away my craving for opioids but also took 
away my desire to do less than I could with my life. I could sleep. A nontoxic 
substance was dealing with my pain issues. I always said if you give me 
something to deal with my pain, I will stop taking the drugs. I stopped taking 
the drugs when I started using marijuana. I think other people can too. 
 
Ray Ellsworth, a friend and former Special Forces soldier, contacted me a week 
ago. His doctor told him he had to get off all the pain medications he is taking. 
His doctor told him to try marijuana, but the doctor did not know what he 
should do with marijuana. He asked if I could help him. People are coming to me 
for marijuana information. I am not a doctor. I think they should go to a doctor. I 
think you can help with that.  
 
BRUCE L. GALE: 
I am an attorney licensed to practice law in Nevada since 1988. I have been 
involved in medical marijuana since April 2013 starting with the initial draft of 
S.B. No. 374 of the 77th Session. I have an ownership interest in cultivation 
and production in North Las Vegas. I am not here for my own economic benefit. 
I am here to tell you my unfortunate personal experience regarding my brother 
who died from opioid addiction. He had opioid-induced constipation. It is a 
tortured history. I support S.B. 228. I support adding subsection 4 to NRS 
453A.050 regarding opioid addiction. If opioid addiction does not constitute a 
chronic or debilitating medical condition, I do not know what does. 
 
My brother had problems for many years. Decades. On June 17, 2016, at 
2:26 p.m., I got a phone call at my law office. It was my brother’s ex-girlfriend. 
She informed me that my brother had been found dead. I immediately called my 
other brother. We went to my brother’s residence. The Las Vegas Metropolitan 
Police Department had been there and secured the premises. The coroner had 
been there. The place was boarded up. We removed the boards. We entered 
and experienced a toxic disgusting situation. If passage of S.B. 228 can help 
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anyone avoid what I had to go through and help people who have opioid 
addiction and resulting opioid-induced constipation, then please pass S.B. 228. 
 
DR. LUU: 
Vivitrol is in the class of opioid antagonists. Alternatively, it is a blocker of the 
binding of an opioid against the receptor. It does address the craving or at least 
attempts to address the psychological craving. It does not address chronic pain 
or sleep issues. I agree with Senator Ford that recommendations to patients for 
medical marijuana should be by a professional who can prescribe other 
medications. Many patients are on other medications and it is important for the 
evaluator providing the recommendation to understand the context of all the 
other medications and the relationships of those medications to medical 
marijuana.  
 
The law provides a one-to-one relationship between a patient and a caregiver. In 
a nursing home or a drug rehabilitation clinic, it is important to define a certified 
caregiver as someone who is able to administer and to instruct and educate on 
the use of medical marijuana for multiple patients.  
 
SCOT RUTLEDGE (Nevada Cannabis Coalition):  
The Nevada Cannabis Coalition is a coalition of seven medical marijuana 
establishments that hold dozens of licenses and employ hundreds of people. We 
support S.B. 228.  
 
CATHERINE O’MARA (Executive Director, Nevada State Medical Association): 
The Nevada State Medical Association (NSMA) represents physicians of all 
disciplines throughout the State. We oppose S.B. 228. Our main reason for 
opposing the bill is that there has not been sufficient evidence-based research to 
support the efficacy of medical marijuana to treat opioid addiction. We 
acknowledge that there are anecdotes of people who do feel better. We also 
acknowledge the two physicians in Las Vegas who are doing clinical trials. We 
look forward to receiving the results of those clinical trials. We pledge to 
disseminate those results to our members. I agree that further communication is 
necessary and important. 
 
The intent of S.B. 228 as discussed at this hearing is to do whatever is 
medically effective. In order for physicians to do that, there needs to be 
peer-reviewed research published in legitimate journals. There is a standard of 
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what research qualifies and what research does not. Medical marijuana research 
needs to get to that level. 
 
A petition was filed to take marijuana off the United States Drug Enforcement 
Administration (DEA) Schedule I. The DEA denied that petition in the summer of 
2016. In August 2016, the DEA endorsed the idea of research. The American 
Medical Association’s (AMA) position on medical marijuana has been strongly in 
favor of more research, more clinical data and more peer-reviewed articles. 
While not endorsing state medical marijuana programs, the AMA endorses the 
freedom to conduct these studies so that physicians know when medical 
marijuana is medically indicated and when is it not. The NSMA acknowledges 
that opioid abuse is a problem in the State and Country and supports having as 
many medically-indicated tools as possible in toolbox. Unfortunately, this 
process is moving too fast. 
 
We emphasize the need for research. We support a research study and are 
waiting for the results. For example, Connecticut is working on a study. We 
know that primary care physicians treat many of the people who end up with 
opioid prescriptions. Primary care physicians say that when they see a patient 
with an ailment that would qualify for medical marijuana, they do not know 
what to do with that information. There is no one strain of marijuana that they 
can recommend with a specific THC level and a specific CBD level. In a recent 
review of just one dispensary, there were over 30 different strains of marijuana 
with highly fluctuating ranges. It is difficult for primary care physicians or any 
physician to know what strain to direct a patient to. When patients go to a 
dispensary, they do not talk to a pharmacist. They talk to a salesperson. How 
are they to know which strain to select except by anecdotal evidence? 
 
I heard today that there is significant anecdotal evidence of the medical efficacy 
of marijuana. Many of the anecdotes are compelling. We want physicians and 
patients to be able to pick an effective solution to treat chronic pain, but we 
need more research. I heard today that folks with chronic pain treated with 
opioids experienced a reduction in their craving when they were treated with 
marijuana. Treatment of chronic pain with marijuana is allowed pursuant to 
NRS 453A.050 subsection 4, paragraphs (c) and (e). We agree with 
Senator Ford that who can recommend marijuana needs to be clarified. We 
support turning S.B. 228 into a research bill.  
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SENATOR FORD: 
It occurs to me that one of the reasons we may not have studies is because 
medical marijuana has become legal recently. No one has felt authorized or 
capable of experimenting with medical marijuana vis-a-vis opioid addiction. It 
may be a strawman argument. You mention the Connecticut study. Can you tell 
me the status of that study? When do you expect results?  
 
MS. O’MARA: 
I do not know, but I will supplement my testimony with information about that 
study. We agree with you regarding research. Marijuana is a schedule I 
substance and money has not been allowed to go toward studying it. Until the 
DEA issued its statement authorizing more cultivation and production of 
marijuana plants to supply research studies, studies were prohibited. That does 
not defeat the underlying premise that we do not have peer-reviewed results. 
We would like to wait for those before expanding marijuana use.  
 
SENATOR FORD: 
I am not suggesting otherwise. However, I was requesting proponents show me 
a study one way or the other, but at the end of the day, studies may not exist 
because marijuana has been a controlled substance.  
 
MS. O’MARA: 
I do not know the results of the Connecticut study. It could very well conclude 
the efficacy of medical marijuana and recommend prescribing it. We are fine 
with that. We are not against medical marijuana per se, but we need the 
designation that it is actually a medicine.  
 
SENATOR FORD: 
Do you know the stage of the Connecticut study? Will we have the results this 
Session?  
 
MS. O’MARA: 
I do not believe so, but I will find out.  
 
SENATOR FORD: 
Assuming we disagree with you and pass S.B. 228, what is your position on the 
list of folks who can recommend and/or prescribe medical marijuana?  Who has 
authorization to write prescriptions? Are clinical social workers allowed to write 
prescriptions?  
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MS. O’MARA: 
I do not believe they are. I know physicians, physician’s assistants, advanced 
practice registered nurses, dentists and veterinarians can prescribe. A wide 
variety of health care providers can prescribe. 
 
SENATOR FORD: 
Can you supplement your testimony to the Committee with who those folks 
are? 
 
MS. O’MARA: 
Yes.  
 
LAUREL STADLER (Northern Nevada DUI Task Force): 
We are opposed to S.B. 228 for some of the same reasons others have stated 
at this hearing. Opioid addiction appears to be already included in the chronic or 
debilitating medical conditions listed in NRS 453A.050. We are opposed to the 
plethora of people who would be authorized to write recommendations who are 
not able to prescribe at this time. If marijuana is medicine, then it should be 
prescribed as a medicine. 
 
One problem is the multiple prescription drugs that people are taking. The 
addition of marijuana to that mix by providers not familiar with drug interactions 
is definitely disturbing, especially when impaired people drive on our streets and 
highways. Under the DUI laws, it is illegal to drive on our streets if alcohol 
impaired, drug impaired with legal or illegal drugs or any combination thereof. 
We have a concern about people who are not pharmaceutical professionals 
recommending a drug when they do not know what the other drugs are being 
taken and what the interactions may be. 
 
The Reno Police Department is reviewing all of its marijuana DUI arrests to 
determine if any other prohibited substance was involved. Blood test results are 
being reviewed to determine if polyuse is involved in marijuana arrests. 
Preliminary reports suggest that marijuana DUIs have other substances on 
board. That raises a question about the 465 or 600, whatever the number is, 
unfortunate opioid deaths. Was bloodwork analyzed in those cases to determine 
if other substances were on board?   
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COLLEEN PLATT (Board of Examiners for Drug, Alcohol and Gambling Counselors): 
The licensees of the Board of Examiners for Drug, Alcohol and Gambling 
Counselors cannot prescribe. 
 
JOHN DIMURO, O.D. (Chief Medical Officer, Division of Public and Behavioral 

Health, Department of Health and Human Services): 
I am board-certified in anesthesiology and pain medicine. I am certified in 
medication-assisted treatment. I worked at the Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer 
Center and have had a significant exposure to patients using marijuana. First, 
the Department is neutral on S.B. 228. Second, there are issues that need 
clarification. Like Senator Ford, I do not support anyone besides a provider with 
a DEA license recommending medical marijuana. That is not clear in the bill and 
needs to be clarified.  
 
There have been significant federal restrictions on the ability to perform medical 
marijuana research, which is why we do not have much. The facts regarding 
marijuana are as follows. First, there are no studies showing marijuana helps 
with pain at all. I recently met with the CDC as well as the eight other states 
that have legalized marijuana, and we do not have that data yet. There are 
studies going on, and every physician will have anecdotal experiences. Second, 
there is strong evidence that marijuana can work for nausea and vomiting, what 
we call an antiemetic, and for appetite suppression. Third, opioid addiction is 
not a valid diagnosis for medical marijuana. Fourth, the issue is controlled 
substances in general, not just opioids. These include Valium-like drugs, 
benzodiazepines, muscle relaxants, antidepressants and antinerve drugs. We 
need appropriate evidence-based diagnoses for the use of these drugs. My 
biggest concern working at the State is how many people are placed on 
medication without an evidence-based diagnosis. For example, low-back pain is 
not an evidence-based diagnosis, but it is the most common diagnosis we see in 
Medicaid.  
 
Much needs to be discussed regarding S.B. 228 as written, and I am happy to 
work with Senator Spearman on this bill.  
 
SENATOR FORD: 
It dawned on me that Amsterdam has had legal marijuana for a long time. 
Maybe other countries do as well. Do we have any international research that 
can be pointed to that shows, one way or the other, what affect marijuana has 
on opioid addiction? 



Senate Committee on Judiciary 
March 15, 2017 
Page 25 
 
DR. DIMURO: 
Not immediately at hand, if you are just talking about opioid addiction. That may 
be different for controlled substances in general.  
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
What Senator Ford said with respect to research is pertinent to any argument 
for or against S.B. 228 because of the restrictions that have been placed on 
marijuana. Some research has been done, but it has not been published and 
peer-reviewed. The lifting of research restrictions will allay some of the fears. 
 
With respect to chronic pain, I injured my back two times in the military. I am in 
constant pain, which is one of the reasons I cannot wear high-heeled shoes. The 
back pain would be too severe. I am dealing with it. We have heard anecdotal 
evidence that people with chronic pain are faring better with respect to their 
ability to function in life with medical marijuana than they would be with 
opioids. When I was on muscle relaxers to get rid of pain, I was useless. Even 
the Department of Defense has said that they want to look at all forms of 
medicine, eastern and western, because many military members coming back 
from war are being prescribed medicines that treat their pain, but all they can do 
is sit on the couch all day long. 
 
This is an evolving science. Years ago, people did not believe in acupuncture. 
Years ago, people did not believe chiropractors. That is one of the reasons why 
for many professions the preceding adjective is “practicing.” Practicing law. 
Practicing medicine. Professions evolve. Nothing is certain. If we are serious 
about treating opioid addiction and unless we have evidence that medical 
marijuana is destructive, I think this is something we should consider. 
 
I am open to Senator Ford’s amendments. I am open to clarifying what will 
happen with respect to driving. I think the CDC looks at the primary cause of 
death. Someone might have taken aspirin, but that is not listed as having 
contributed to the cause of death. 
 
Many of you know, and it is no secret, that for me if there is something that we 
can do to help veterans, I am all in. I am all in because I understand what 
veterans go through. I understand what veterans have gone through. Many 
people have never faced war or the potential of war. Many people have never 
had a traumatic brain injury. Before you set your mind against S.B. 228, I 
encourage you to look at some of the reports of what caused injuries to 
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veterans in Iraq, caused injuries to veterans in Vietnam and caused injuries to 
veterans in Afghanistan. 
 
Once upon a time, we said veterans got shell shock and we left it at that. 
Veterans were left to deal with it on their own. A good friend’s father served in 
Special Forces in Korea. He came back with shell shock. He began 
self-medicating and became addicted to drugs. I am asking us to consider 
medical marijuana as a possibility. If it can help with pain, then let us try it. If a 
person has chronic pain and does not want to become addicted to opioids, I 
encourage this Committee to take that into consideration. 
 
Go and read some of the literature that describes what veterans saw in war. 
How they had to scrape up their buddies’ bodies off the battlefield. Go and look 
at that. Go and see some of the pictures that look like somebody took a tomato, 
put ketchup and mayonnaise on it and smashed it on the table. That is 
someone’s brain. Go and look at that. If you do not know or have no 
understanding of what veterans face when they are looking for relief, it is easy 
to say we should not do this. When we sit in the comfort of homes or cars or in 
this building, it is easy to say we should not do this. It is easy to pass judgment 
and say no. Go talk to a veteran. I am asking us to give, especially the veterans, 
another way to deal with chronic pain without facing addiction. That is the least 
we can do.  
 
SENATOR HARRIS: 
Thank you, Senator Spearman, for the important and serious concerns you are 
bringing to us. As we have more conversations as a Committee around the use 
of medical marijuana, who can prescribe and how diagnoses are made, we need 
to look at the Nevada Constitution, Article 4, section 38. This section states 
that the Legislature shall provide by law for the use of cannabis by a patient 
upon advice of his physician.  
 
VICE CHAIR CANNIZZARO: 
We will close the hearing on S.B. 228 and open the hearing on S.B. 258. 
 
SENATE BILL 258: Revises provisions governing common-interest communities. 

(BDR 10-994) 
 
SENATOR DON GUSTAVSON (Senatorial District No. 14): 
Our Intern for the Senate Minority Caucus will present S.B. 258. 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5194/Overview/
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JAMES RINGEL (Intern, Senate Minority Caucus): 
Senate Bill 258 is before you today to enforce S.B. No. 130 of the 
77th Session. Senate Bill No. 130 of the 77th Session was passed unanimously 
by the Senate and the Assembly and was signed by Governor Sandoval in 
May 2013. The passage of S.B. No. 130 of the 77th Session was necessary 
because many HOAs were sending notices of alleged violations to homeowners 
that were vague, unclear and often confusing. Senate Bill No. 130 of the 
77th Session instructed that notices sent by an HOA to a homeowner regarding 
alleged violations needed to include detailed information and a clear photograph 
if the alleged violation was a physical condition of the property. Senate Bill 
No. 130 of the 77th Session worked well until the Division of Real Estate issued 
an advisory opinion stating that S.B. No. 130 of the 77th Session did not need 
to be adhered to until a fine was being imposed. The Advisory Opinion is 
Exhibit D. It is my understanding that this was not the intent of the original 
legislation. If a homeowner is going to be accused of a violation regarding his or 
her property, it is reasonable that the property owner be properly informed with 
a notice that provides specific details of the violation and a photograph if the 
alleged violation concerns a physical condition.  
 
Anybody who lives in an HOA, and many Nevadans do, especially in southern 
Nevada, understands that an HOA will levy a penalty if a noticed violation goes 
uncorrected. The situation is not made less stressful for the homeowner 
because an HOA sends a courtesy notice about an alleged violation without 
mentioning a fine. If a notification of an alleged violation is sent to a property 
owner by an HOA, S.B. 258 makes it clear that the notice must specify in detail 
the alleged violation and include a clear photograph of the alleged violation if the 
alleged violation relates to the physical condition of the unit or the grounds of 
the unit.  
 
Exhibit D states that it is an advisory opinion only and not a “rule, regulation, or 
final legal determination.” Senate Bill 258 strengthens and clarifies the 
legislative intent of S.B. No. 130 of the 77th Session and brings peace of mind 
to Nevadans who choose to reside in HOAs.  
 
MR. FRIEDRICH: 
I happened to have with me several documents. One is a courtesy notice from 
Summerlin West. It does not provide a photograph of the alleged violation. 
Another document is from Siena in Summerlin, which clearly states that it is a 
courtesy notice and does have a photograph, fuzzy though it may be. We 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/JUD/SJUD496D.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/JUD/SJUD496D.pdf
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request S.B. 258 require a courtesy notice that includes a photograph. The 
homeowner can determine what the alleged violation is and does not have to 
read between the lines and guess. It is a simple fix. Just add the words 
“including a courtesy notice.” 
 
MR. STEBBINS:  
We support S.B. 258. We believe that the objective of any executive board in 
an HOA should be to ensure all lots are in compliance with the governing 
documents of the association. To that end, an owner or any other entity alleged 
to be in violation should be given full, complete information concerning the 
violations as well as suggested remedies with all notices sent by the HOA and 
reasonable time to implement any remedies. Senate Bill 258 is a good step to 
that end. Any hearing or fine should be the absolute last resort in efforts to 
obtain compliance.   
 
MR. LEON: 
Mountain’s Edge Master Association is an association of 11,000 homes in 
southwest Las Vegas Valley. We are neutral on S.B. 258. When we send out a 
courtesy notice, it does include a photograph. A homeowner gets a violation 
notice for something like faded fascia that needs to be repainted. Nobody 
knows what fascia is so a photograph is essential. It baffles me why an 
association would not include a photograph with the first contact. Not doing so 
invites telephone calls. This seems inefficient to me.  
 
JANINE HANSEN: 
I support S.B. 258. It is eminently responsible and reasonable. I live in Elko. 
South of Elko there is a huge community that is mostly an HOA called 
Spring Creek. I have many friends who live there. I think it is responsible to give 
people a chance to correct a problem before it gets worse.  
 
MR. GORDON:  
We support S.B. 258. We have a concern with some language in the bill, and 
we will work with Senator Gustavson. The new language in section 1 addresses 
to whom the notice is sent. There is boilerplate language in other sections of 
NRS 116 regarding to whom the notice is sent. Courtesy notices are not 
necessarily mandatory. They are discretionary. If a courtesy notice is sent, it 
should include a photograph and use language from S.B. No. 130 of the 
77th Session.  
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VICE CHAIR CANNIZZARO: 
I will close the hearing on S.B. 258. This hearing is adjourned at 3:18 p.m. 
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